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Child 1: John Joseph Cash and Charlotte Elizabeth Steele Todd 
John Joseph was born on 9th September 1861 at Stony Creek Oberon. There is a NSW BDM record for a Male 
Cash # 5010/1861 born to Thomas and Mary A in District of Bathurst. This is likely to be John Joseph. He married 
Charlotte Elizabeth Steele Todd on 15th December 1890 at O’Connell. 

The Todds 
Charlotte was the daughter of David Smith TODD 
and Lettisha/Letitia Mary Connelly. She was the 
second child and eldest daughter born on 17th April 
1868 at Essington Oberon. David was a free settler 
having been born in 1841 at Lilford, East 
Northamptonshire Borough, Northamptonshire, 
England the son of William Lewin Todd and 
Charlotte Lovell. David was baptised on 26th Sept 
1841 at Warmington Northampton UK.  David had 
arrived in Australia on the ship ‘John Bright ‘ in June 
1849. He was 7 years old and accompanied his 
parents and siblings Mary Ann and Lewin. They 
were assisted passengers. His father was an 
engineer according to the ships indent.  

The Connelly’s 
Lettisha had been born in Belfast County Down Ireland  in 1844 although her immigration papers state 1846. She 
emigrated on the ship ‘Annie Wilson’ in 1862 with her mother Elizabeth Steele from Holywood Belfast and her 
siblings Anne Jane [ 1838-1872]; Elizabeth Tudor Connelly [1842-1901]; Mary Douglas Connelly [1846-1902]; 
George Porteous Connelly [ 1849-1907] a family tree notes he was a shoemaker. There is a younger sibling 
William John Steele Connelly who had been born in Holywood Belfast1 on 25th Sept 1853 according to family 
trees and had died on 6th May 1854 in Holywood. Her brother Luke Connelly had also died young according to 
family trees having been born on 30th Nov 1840 and died in Holywood on 10th July 1854. Some trees have another 
sibling Martha born 1837 and died young.2  Letitia’s father George Porteous Connelly had died on 12th February 
1854 in Holywood Belfast. Geneanet has his names as George Parkes Porteous Connelly having been born on 
16th Sept 1808 in Holywood Belfast to Archibald Connelly and Ann Jane Porteous. Poor Elizabeth had lost her 
husband and 2 sons within months. Their depositor was Luke ‘Farrell’  Connelly was  George’s brother and the 
family had obtained a reference for their emigration from the protestant Minister of the Church of Holywood. This 
indicates they were Irish protestants. If family trees are correct George’s grandfather was Archibald Connelly and 
he was born in Southend Argyll, Scotland between 1758-1768 and had died in Holywood Belfast in 1795. Luke 
had deposited funds in 1861 so it took a little while for the family to sail. Luke had unfortunately died in 1862 in 
Penrith NSW. Elizabeth Connelly mum of Letitia is listed as a house servant on shipping indents.  

There is an interesting story in a family tree from Elizabeth Steele: 

“ Elizabeth Steele Connelly of Sydney, New South Wales, Australia, wrote her brother John Steele, Jr. of 
Toquerville, Utah, USA on 2 September 1873 about the Connellys: "my husband [George Porteuous Connelly] 
grand[father] Archey Connelly name Archey Conneila he was capten of a manaware ship that Come in to the 
Belfast before the rebellian of ireland and his wife was ichord and two sunes Arch and Jorge" 

This tells us that Archibald Snr was a ships captain of a man-o-war ship. The Irish Rebellion occurred in 1798 
https://www.amrevmuseum.org/virtualexhibits/cost-of-revolution/pages/part-4-irish-revolution and 

 
1 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Holywood,_County_Down 
2 https://ancestors.familysearch.org/en/LK1P-NSD/martha-connelly-1837 
 

Letitia Connelly sourced from 
family tree chdesign 28783. 

David Smith Todd sourced from 
chdesign  28783 

https://www.amrevmuseum.org/virtualexhibits/cost-of-revolution/pages/part-4-irish-revolution
https://ancestors.familysearch.org/en/LK1P-NSD/martha-connelly-1837
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https://www.theirishstory.com/2017/10/28/the-1798-rebellion-a-brief-overview/. Did Archibald Snr fight in the 
1798 uprising?  

An online family history search site for Archibald Connelly https://irelandxo.com/ireland/down/holywood-
down/message-board/connelly shows us how confusing it can get when you have 2 or 3 generations of Archibald 
Connelly’s from the same town and family. I write this here to show some of the rabbit holes genealogists go 
down!  

The site shows us that from Griffiths Valuation 1861 Archibald Connelly of Holywood was a tenant and rented a 
bakery. An Archibald of Holywood died in 1862. Below is the Griffiths Valuation and some sites have it as 1864 
not 1861. We will remain with 1861 to honour Julie’s research above. 

This site left shows us there was an Archibald Connelly painter in 
Holywood in 1861 
https://www.lennonwylie.co.uk/PT_EGHKpage601.htm. This 
Archibald had a son David and a daughter Jane according to the 
research. They concluded there was only 1 Archibald from 
Holywood but we know there were a couple!  

Archibald Connelly born 1758 in Scotland and died 1795 
Holywood- the grandfather Elizabeth references in her letter to 
her brother. His wife is unknown but one site has her as Nancy 
Farrell of Holywood 3.  Archibald #1 had 2 sons Archey and Jorge 
or Archibald born 1778 in Holywood and George 1783-1834. This 
Archibald who we will call # 2 married Anne Jane Porteous. Did 
they have a son called Archibald? There is an Archibald Connelly 

baptised in Dublin in 1815 and born to Archibald and Ann Connelly but is he the same family? Some family trees 
have him listed against the Holywood family. 

 

surnames of county Down website 4 

The 1852 grocer and painter has to be Archibald #2 or does it , he would be 74 years of age. They have records 
also for 1846 of the same Archibald. The research site states that an Archibald is still a tenant on the land 
identified in Griffiths Valuation in 1876.  

Let’s see if Jane and David can tell us anything? Jane’s death certificate leads us to her birth date of around 1846 
so Archibald #2 is unlikely to be her dad. Archibald #3 fits this bill if he exists. This certificate also tells us Jane 
was a spinster and a school mistress but does not link her to a father. The 1901 and 1911 census links Jane and 

 
3 https://www.ancestry.com.au/genealogy/records/archibald-connolly-24-
1yk6hr?geo_a=r&o_iid=41016&o_lid=41016&o_sch=Web+Property 
4 https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~rosdavies/genealogy/SURNAMES/C/Connolly.htm 
 

https://www.theirishstory.com/2017/10/28/the-1798-rebellion-a-brief-overview/
https://irelandxo.com/ireland/down/holywood-down/message-board/connelly
https://irelandxo.com/ireland/down/holywood-down/message-board/connelly
https://www.lennonwylie.co.uk/PT_EGHKpage601.htm
https://freepages.rootsweb.com/~rosdavies/genealogy/SURNAMES/C/Connolly.htm
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David together and they have a nephew Charles James Connelly born around 1881. No accessible records shine 
anymore light on this. 

We cannot get any further than what Julie has on the research site. A brickwall has been reached. 

Elizabeth Steele 
 

Let’s have a closer look at Elizabeth Steele’s story. She was born on 28th February 
1818 in Holywood Belfast to John Steele [1763-1841] and Ann /Nancy Kennedy. We 
can go back further and say her maternal grandparents were William Kennedy 
[1757-1818] and Jean McIlvine [1757-1827] of Holywood and her great grandparents 
John Kennedy born 1727 Holywood and Elizabeth Martin born 1737 Holywood. 
Elizabeth had a brother John Steele Jnr born in Holywood on 21st March 1821 and 
indeed emigrated to USA and a sister Jane born 30th Sept 1819 again in Holywood. 
She married George Parkes Porteous Connelly on 3rd November 1835 in Holywood. 
They produced 7 children listed above. 

1854 was not kind to Elizabeth with the loss of her husband and 2 sons Luke and 
William. She must have struggled as a single mother in Belfast with 5 young children. 
We do not know if her parents were of any means. 

What was Belfast like at this time? 

 

As Ireland’s only industrialised large town, Victorian Belfast was, for much 
of the period, outwardly prosperous and the town displayed a noticeable 
sense of civic pride, which in 1842 led the English novelist William 
Makepeace Thackeray to remark that Belfast appeared ‘hearty, thriving and 
prosperous as if it had money in its pocket and roast beef for dinner.’ 
However, like similar British industrial towns, Belfast had a much less 
refined underbelly and an urban infrastructure that was largely unfit to cope 
with a rapidly growing population. 

Adjoining many of its main thoroughfares was a network of 
confined backstreets, entries, courtyards and alleyways, where scenes of 
deprivation, overcrowding, and poor sanitation could readily be found. Such 
conditions saw illnesses like fever, dysentery, tuberculosis and many others 
regularly break out in epidemic proportions; and in February 1832, following 
months of distressing reports from Europe, Asiatic cholera, a new contagion 
unfamiliar in most of world outside areas of the Indian subcontinent where 
it had originated made its first appearance in Belfast. Three further cholera 
epidemics would follow in 1848-49, 1854 and 1866, themselves part of 
deadly pandemics that swept the globe, all of them influential in altering the 
world’s public health landscape…….But when cholera did return to Belfast 
in 1854 all the town’s municipal bodies made a concerted effort to mitigate 
its impact. Despite this, Belfast was one of the worst affected large Irish 
towns. The epidemic began in March 1854 with cases reported in Smithfield 
and in Washington Street and came to an end in October/ November. 
Accurate statistics are difficult to ascertain, but the Poor Law 
Commissioners recorded 1,871 cases and 677 deaths, (36% 
mortality). https://epidemic-belfast.com/6-cholera-in-nineteenth-
century-belfast/ 

It is a fair conclusion to make that Elizabeth lost her husband and sons to Cholera. The epidemic began in March George 
died in the February so was he an early case or died from something else? William in May and Luke in July in the middle 
of the outbreak. The family would have survived the Irish Famine of 1845-1849. 

Elizabeth Steele courtesy of 
kbate172 1 

Hobart Courier Saturday 9th Dec 1854  

https://epidemic-belfast.com/1-industrial-belfast-the-rise-of-the-pathogenic-city/
https://epidemic-belfast.com/1-industrial-belfast-the-rise-of-the-pathogenic-city/
https://epidemic-belfast.com/6-cholera-in-nineteenth-century-belfast/
https://epidemic-belfast.com/6-cholera-in-nineteenth-century-belfast/
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However, in the 1840s, a plant infection — potato blight, caused by the fungus Phytopthera infestans — showed us how an 
environmental catastrophe in a vulnerable community can profoundly affect human history. Before the visitation of potato 
blight, the population of Ireland was the most rapidly growing in Europe in the early 1840s. Yet between 1845 and 1850, 
Ireland's population fell by over one-third — with 3 million people disappearing from the island — half through death and half 

through emigration. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6735970/ 

Elizabeth and her surviving children would be one of those who emigrated. Why Australia? We know that her brother in 

law Luke Farrell Connelly [1810-1862] had emigrated before 1851 to Australia as he had married Margaret Josephine 

McGhee on 10th Feb 1851 in Sydney. To date no emigration records can be found for Luke. The depositor record shows 

us that Luke was the person who sponsored Elizabeth’s emigration and he paid the deposit for the family in 1861. 

1861 Depositor Luke Connelly for Elizabeth servant aged 39 yrs, Anne jane aged @2 yrs, Elizabeth aged 17 yrs, Letitia 

aged 15 yrs, Mary aged 14 yrs and George aged 11 yrs. Luke paid 3 pound each for their deposits. They came on the 

Annie Wilson – indents in next photo.  

 

 

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6735970/
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Much was written about the Annie Wilson: thanks to Frances Nash for this research. As  a house servant Elizabeth 
could earn 26-30 pound per year depending on which edition you read and it is stated that good female servants 
were scarce. George could be put to work for 15-26 pound and the girls would probably earn the same as their 
mother as servants. The indents above show that all the family could read and write and they were Chrich of 
England Protestants. They arrived on 8th April 1862 but went into quarantine as the papers indicate below. 

The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)  Wednesday 9 April 1862, Page 4 

SHIPPING. 

ARRIVALS.-April 8.       

Annie Wilson, ship, 1118 tons, Captain Tuckett, from Liverpool 31st December. Passengers-425 

Government immigrants. Thacker, Daniell, and Co., agents. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13226813 

 

The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)  Wednesday 9 April 1862, Page 4 

SHIPPING. 

CUSTOM HOUSE. ......... 

The Annie Wilson left Liverpool on the 31st December, and has been placed in quarantine in consequence 

of some cases of scarlet fever. She brings 425 immigrants, viz. 128 single men, 130 single women, and 

167 married couples and children. There has only been one death (an adult) on the passage, which was a 

case of consumption. There are a large number of miners on board for the Newcastle coal-mines. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13226793 

 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13226793
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The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)  Wednesday 9 April 1862, Page 4 

SHIPPING. 

ARRIVALS.-April 8.       

Annie Wilson, ship, 1118 tons, Captain Duckett, from Liverpool 31st December. Passengers-425 

Government immigrants. Thacker, Daniell, and Co., agents. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13226813 

 

Empire (Sydney, NSW: 1850 - 1875)  Wednesday 9 April 1862, Page 4 

IMMIGRANTS BY THE ANNIE WILSON.--The ship Annie Wilson, 1118 tons, Captain Duckett, from 

Liverpool 31st December, with 425 assisted immigrants, arrived yesterday. She was placed in quarantine 

by the Health-officer in consequence of some cases of scarlet fever, and one of measles having occurred 

on the voyage. The first case of scarlet fever occurred on the 15th March, and there were two cases 

subsequently. A case of measles occurred on 2nd April. No death, however, has arisen from either of these 

diseases, and but one during the voyage--that of an aged person, from consumption. Amongst the 

immigrants by this vessel are 70 colliers for the Newcastle mines. They are not under an engagement to 

any one company, but will, we understand, be apportioned between the four companies, who were jointly 

engaged in subscribing the funds for the payment of their passages under the assisted immigration 

regulations. Dr. Alleyne has given the necessary sanitary orders for the cleaning of the clothes, &c., of the 

immigrants; and lt is believed from present appearances, that the quarantine will have to be enforced for a 

few days only, when the healthy portion of the passengers will be brought up to Hyde Park Barracks, the 

sick alone, if there should then be any, remaining behind.   

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article60507471 

 

The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)  Friday 11 April 1862, Page 6 

IMMIGRANTS per ANNIE WILSON.-Notice is hereby given that the undermentioned persons, for whom 

passages have been provided to the colony under the Assisted Immigration Regulations, have arrived in 

the ship Annie Wilson, and will be prepared to join their friends as soon as practicable, after their release 

from Quarantine of which due notice will be given in a subsequent advertisement -- 

Name of Immigrant.     Name of Depositor. 

Connelly, Elizabeth       Luke Connelly 

Elizabeth                       Ditto 

Letitia                            Ditto 

Mary                              Ditto 

George                          Ditto 

A. G. SHADFORTH, Agent for Immigration, Government Immigration Office, Sydney, 10th April, 1862. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13226927 

 

The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)   Saturday 12 April 1862, Page 6 

SYDNEY LABOUR MARKET. 

[J. C. GLUE.]   

The labour market has received an addition this week by the arrival of the Annie Wilson with upwards of 

400 passengers. This is the first vessel of a number to follow with immigrants to this port under the new 

regulations. Employers no doubt will hail this with satisfaction, having experienced great difficulty in 

procuring good servants. The ship is in quarantine for a few days only ; the passengers will be for hire 

during next week. The demand for agricultural labourers is brisk at this season of the year. Wages will be 

found correct as under. 

Married couples, with board .......... per annum £45 to 60 

Farm servants ......................................... ditto £30 to 35 

Shepherds ............................................... ditto £30 

Hutkeepers .............................................. ditto £25 

Bushmen ................................................. ditto £40 to 52 

Coachmen and grooms .......................... ditto £40 to 52 
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Men cooks .............................................. ditto £40 to 60 

Waiters .................................................... ditto £40 to 52 

Horse-team drivers ................................ ditto £45 to 52 

Boys ....................................................... ditto £15 to 26 

Female servants .................................... ditto £26 to 30 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13226994 

 

Empire (Sydney, NSW: 1850 - 1875)  Saturday 12 April 1862, Page 8 

TO THE EMPLOYERS OF LABOUR GENERALLY.-The undersigned, in returning thanks for the many 

favours shown him as an employer of labour, begs to inform them that immigration having commenced 

again by the arrival of the Annie Wilson, with upwards of 400 passengers, he will be happy again to 

receive commissions for hiring immigrants on the ship. J. C. GLUE, Labour Agent, 162, Pitt-street North. 

Established 1856. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article60508191 

 

Bathurst Free Press and Mining Journal (NSW: 1851 - 1904)  Wednesday 16 April 1862, Page 3 

SYDNEY LABOUR MARKET. 

The "Annie Wilson" with upwards of 400 immigrants has arrived during the week and been ordered into 

Quarantine, it is expected however that many of the new arrivals will be in attendance and prepared to hire 

in a few days; blacksmiths and carpenters are in request, the demand for farm and domestic servants is 

tolerably good. The following quotations of rates of wages are substantially correct. 

Per annum. 

Ordinary Agricultural Labourers numerous in attendance at from ....................... £30  to  £82 

Skilled Farming Men rather scarce at ............................................................. £35  to  £40         

Mechanics of most descriptions equal to demand from ..................................... £60  to  £80 

Married domestic servants in excess of present requirements from..................... £50  to  £60 

Good female servants are rather scarce from ................................................. £20  to  £30       

HAIGH and BROWN, General Commission and Labour Agents,   

221, Pitt-street, Sydney.   

April 4th, 1862.   

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article62720314 

 

The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)  Thursday 17 April 1862, Page 4 

CUSTOM HOUSE.-Entered Outwards. April 16 :--Diamantina, (s.), 239 tons, Captain Bell, for Brisbane.   

The Annie Wilson has been released from quarantine, and is now lying at the entrance of the Cove. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13227161 

 

The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW: 1842-1954)  Saturday 19 April 1862, Page 8 

MONTHLY SUMMARY OF SHIPPING. 

ARRIVALS FROM ENGLAND.   

March 20.-Cambodia, ship, 811 tons, Captain Page, from the Downs, 108 days. 

April 1.-Dunphaile Castle, ship, 720 tons, Captain Cow, from the Downs, 101 days. 

April 1.-Prince of Wales (s.), 621 tons, Captain Buckland, from the Downs, 182 days. 

April 1.-Daisy, barque, 467 tons, Captain Gillie, from Leith, 125 days. 

April 8.-Annie Wilson, ship, 1118 tons, Captain Tuckett, from Liverpool, 98 days. 

April 11.-Oaklands, ship, 886 tons, Captain Brown, from Liverpool, 130 days. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article13227308 

 

The Argus (Melbourne, Vic: 1848 - 1956)  Tuesday 20 May 1862. Page 4 

PORT OF SYDNEY. 

Arrived. 

May 17.-Kembla, from River Clyde ; Wonga Wonga, s., from Melbourne. 

May 18.-Marion, from Manilla ; Marshal Pelissier, from Mauritius ; Gipsy, from Twofold Bay. 

Sailed. 
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May 18.-Annie Wilson, for Callao ; Caledonienne, French war steamer, for New Caledonia; Rangatira, s., 

for Melbourne. 

Source: http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article5715098 

 We don’t know much about what Elizabeth did from 1862 

but she died in Sydney at residence 142 Kent St  on 1st 

October 1882. Her son in law David Smith Todd placed a 

funeral notice in the paper indicating Elizabeth would be 

buried at the Necropolis Rookwood Cemetery in Sydney. 

Her death certificate seems to indicate her son George 

was living with her at the time.  

 

SMH Monday 2nd October 1882  

Her gravestone reads native of Hollywood, Co Down, Ireland. She is buried section F Row 6 Old Church of 
England section. 

What happened to her children? 

• Anne Jane married John Eastment in Bathurst 2 years after she arrived in 1864. They had a son Luke in 
1870 and she died on 18th Nov 1872 at Bathurst aged 34 years. ? possible post natal death [BDM #3146] 

• Elizabeth Tudor Connelly [1842-1901] https://www.ancestry.com.au/genealogy/records/elizabeth-
tudor-connelly-24-wh3kv. She married Archibald Muir McMurtrie on 15th May 1866 at Scots Church 
Sydney. They had 11 children, 2 dying 
young. Her nephew Luke Eastment 
committed suicide at her house on 
19th March 1894 after shooting 
Captain Donald. Elizabeth died 19th 
Jan 1901 at RPA Camperdown 
Hospital aged 59 yrs. Interestingly 
her parents are listed on her death 
certificate as John Steele Connelly 
and Elizabeth Gelston 

 

 

 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article5715098
https://www.ancestry.com.au/genealogy/records/elizabeth-tudor-connelly-24-wh3kv
https://www.ancestry.com.au/genealogy/records/elizabeth-tudor-connelly-24-wh3kv
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• Mary Douglas Connelly [1846-1919] had 3 
marriages. The first to George Wells [1842-1903] 
whom she divorced in 1902 after 37 years marriage. 
Her second husband was John Ennis who she 
married in 1909 in Waterloo Sydney and her third 
husband was  Joseph Brooks who she married at 
Parramatta in 1915. Mary did not have any children. 
She died at 24 Denison St Newtown on 27th October 
1919 of apoplexy aged 70 yrs. Interestingly her death 
certificate states that her father George Porteous 
Connelly was a medical practitioner. If this is correct 
could this explain his early death in February 1854 
before cholera became an epidemic in March of that 
year? Thanks to Frances Nash for the records. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• George Porteous Connelly Jnr [1849-1907] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SMH Sat 9th August 1902 1 

Source: https://www.pinterest.com.au/pin/george-portues-connelly-
boot-maker-from-belfast-ireland--419608890257401494/ 
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George Jnr was a bootmaker in Sydney. The 1900 Sands Director has his workshop in Balmain. He married Esther 
Louisa Crowley in Sydney on 8th May 1875 and they had 9 children with the names Porteous, Letitia, Jane Anne 
peppered in their names. Interestingly one of his children is Esther Louisa Gelston Connelly [1882-1961]. Gelston 
is the surname used on Mary Tudor’s death certificate , could Elizabeth have partnered with a Mr Gelston hence 
the use of the name? George died young at the age of 57 years at his residence 71 Foucart St Rozelle on February 
27th 1907.He too was buried at the Necroplis Rookwood Section F Row 6 where his sister is buried. 

 

1900 Sands Directory 1* 

David Smith’s Todd’s lineage 
William Lewin Todd and Charlotte Lovell 
David was the eldest child and son of William Lewin Todd [ 1818-1874] and Charlotte Lovell. Willliam and 
Charlotte had been married in Warmington Northamptonshire on 11th October 1840. William was 22 years of age 
having been born on 2nd Feb 1818 at Tansor in Northamptonshire. His Marriage certificate does not list a father.  

 

 

It is very likely William was illegitimate given the record below: 
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The indents on the ship bringing him to Australia and his grave records indicate he was born in Tansor in 1818 on 
2nd August. 

Charlotte’s parents were Smith Lovell [1795-1867] a labourer and Mary Ann Deer [1795-1848]. She had been 
born in Warmington in 1819. Her paternal grandparents were Thomas Lovell [1758-1838] and Alice Ellis [1755-
1840] of Buckinghamshire. Her paternal great grandparents were Thomas Lovell [1730-1782] and Elizabeth 
Pierce  [born 1730] of Drayton Buckinghamshire. Her paternal great grandparents on the Ellis side were Francis 
and Sarah Ellis. 

William and Charlotte emigrated to Australia on the ship ‘John Bright’ with their children David Smith , Mary Ann 
and Lewin in 1849. They arrived on the 8th June in Sydney. They went on to have one more child; Edwin [1850-
1877]. Some family trees have Edwin born under a bullock Tray at Bogan River NSW. This is probable given that 
William was a carrier-see  below reference.  Charlotte died on 5th July  1868 at Stony Creek near Essington.  

William remarried Ellen Gentle the widow of Edward Terry Wilson [1830-1869] in 1870 at Bathurst. They went on 
to have two more children:  Caleb William [1871-1958] and Hester Louisa [1873-1946].  

William died in Gladesville Asylum, Gladesville Hospital on 15th October 1874 and is buried in the Asylum 
cemetery. https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/191591626/william-todd.  He was 55 years old.  This was the 
same year Hamilton Murray [ Mary Ann Smith’s sister in laws father] was admitted to Gladesville Asylum. He had 
been admitted in the February and died in the May. It was one month after Hamilton died that William was 
admitted. 

Reference to his death is recorded in a family tree: 

First settled at Obley, New South Wales between Molong & Yeoval. Was overseer on Sheep Station. Later became a carrier 
of supplies from Sydney via Bullock team. After 1870 William started having fits and had nervous breakdown. Was taken to 
Bathurst 26 May 1874 and committed to Gladesville Psychiatric Hospital on 9 June 1874. He died of a stroke there. Hospital 
Informant: E.M BETTS (Assistant Superintendent) Medical Attendant at time of death: Thomas M JOSEPH (last seen 
14/10/1874) Minister: Charles ARCHDALL Undertaker: Thomas FOLKARD Witnesses: A.PICARD A.ADAIR 
Quoted text: 7728/1874 HAVE CERTIFICATE 
AFGS 1 _UPD 14 FEB 2013 18:21:34 GMT+10 
Witnesses: Mary Ann WILLIAMSON Emma BULLIVANT 
AFGS 1 _UPD 14 FEB 2013 16:15:47 GMT+10 [reference not kept] 
 
I want to tease out the life of one of Willilam’s daughters Mary Ann as it intrigues me that this might be the story 
about a Mary Ann and a McNab rather than it being Mary Ann Smith and a McNab. 

Northamptonshire, England, Cof E 1818  

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/191591626/william-todd.%20%20He
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Mary Ann Todd,  David’s sister married Peter McNab in 1870 at Bathurst. As mentioned 
on the front page on the Mary Ann Smith website page, Peter owned property around 
Essington. This Mary Ann and Peter went on to have 12 children. Their youngest was 
George Reuban McNab [ 1887-1976]. The McNabs were an Essington family. Mary Ann 
died on 12th December 1917 at Bathurst and is buried in Oberon Cemetery5 with her 
husband who died on 19th June 1913 at Essington. The names of her ancestors are 
peppered through her childrens names- Lovell, Letitia, Archibald, Charlotte, Lewin. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 

David Smith Todd and Letitia’s children: 
• William George Todd [1866-1942] https://ancestors.familysearch.org/en/MZ7N-R2L/william-george-

todd-1866-1942 

• Charlotte Elizabeth Steele Todd 

• George Porteous Connelly Todd [1869-1920] 
• Elizabeth Victoria Todd [1872-1947] 
• Mary Rosetta Todd [1874-1915] 
• Edwin Peter James Todd [1875-1876] 
• Luin Joseph Ambrose Todd [1875-1909] 
• Alice Davinia Jane Todd [1881-1966] 

 
5 https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49767781/mary-ann-macnab 

Hugh Kenneth 
McNab [1884-1966] 

Source- Family Tree 
Softwick 

 
Grave at Oberon  

William McNab [1874-
1932] 

Source- Family Tree 
Softwick 

Peter James McNab [1872-1956], 
Mary Ann McNab [wife] and Hazel 
Bailey  

Source- Family Tree elsalex1 

Alfred Edwin is buried at 
Narrabri. 

[ 1876-1914] 

https://ancestors.familysearch.org/en/MZ7N-R2L/william-george-todd-1866-1942
https://ancestors.familysearch.org/en/MZ7N-R2L/william-george-todd-1866-1942
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• George Porteous Todd [1886-1968] 
 

Back to John Joseph Cash and Charlotte: 
 

John Joseph shared the same name as his first cousin my Poppy John Joseph Smith however my Pop was born in 
1880 so perhaps he was named after this John Joseph who would have been his first cousin. Having been born 
in September 1861 we can safely say Mary Ann was pregnant when she married Thomas Cash in the May of 1861. 

John Joseph and Charlotte had 3 children: 

1. Dora Letitia Mary Cash [1898-1967]. She married Walter A Bliss in 1924. She died 24th October 
1967. They had 2 children Daphne and Douglas. 

 

 

Source: Family Tree peterdelow  

2. Reine Edith Iris Cash [1904-1989]. She married John Frederick Trigg on 1st October  1927. They 
lived at Lidcombe. She is buried at Rookwood. 
https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/189625054/reine-trigg 

3. Clifton John Cash [ 1906-1906]. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reine and John F Trigg 

Source: Family tree 
begrumsfarm45 

Source: Peter Delow  

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/189625054/reine-trigg
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John Joseph died of a heart attack at St Vincents Hospital on 26th April 1942 as per his death certificate above. 
Charlotte was the informant. They were living at “Town View” 48 Lyse St, Bathurst.  

Charlotte died on 6th December 1952 aged 84 years https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49105447/cas 

They are buried together at Bathurst Cemetery. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Child 2: Agnes Cash and Phillip Joseph Foran- the bushrangers? 
Agnes Cash was born on Christmas Day 25th December 1863 at Sewells 
Creek. Sewells Creek being the location of her great grandmother Frances 
Green Smith Sewell who had been deceased 10 years by the time Agens 
arrived.  

Agnes would have grown up on her families property at Stony Creek.  

She married Phillip Joseph Foran at Rockley on 18th June 1886 when she 
would have been 22 years of age. Phillip was the son of Patrick Foran and 
Ellen Grady.  

Let’s have a look at Phillip’s family first.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Forans 

Patrick Foran and Ellen Grady 
Patrick Foran had been born in Ireland. The Colonial Secretary’s papers outlined his convict history: 

FORAN, Patrick. Per "Minerva", 1819 

1819 Dec 30 

On list of convicts disembarked from the "Minerva" and forwarded to Parramatta for distribution (Reel 6007; 
4/3501 p.145) 

Source: Dale Boyle  

Phillip and Agnes with daughters  

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49105447/cas
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1822 Aug 3 

Servant to Mr Lawson. On return of proceedings of the Bench of Magistrates, Parramatta (Fiche 3297; X643 p.22) 

1823 May 21 

On list of convicts employed by William Lawson; from Jan 1820 to 1822 (Reel 6058; 4/1771 p.313c) 

1825 May, Oct 

On lists of convicts employed by William Lawson; from Jan 1820 (Reel 6062; 4/1782 pp.51a, 56a) 

1825 Jun 20 

Convict in the service of William Lawson of Prospect at the last two musters (Reel 6014; 4/3514 pp.524-5) 
http://colsec.records.nsw.gov.au/indexes/colsec/f/F20c_fli-fy-04.htm 
 

William Lawson was the Lawson of Blaxland, Wentworth and Lawson who were the first Europeans to cross the 
Blue Mountains. Between 1819 and 1824 Lawson was in Bathurst as its commandant. He retired to Veteran Hill 
Prospect in 1825 so if the William Lawson of Prospect mentioned above. 
https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/lawson-william-2338 and 
https://www.spathaky.name/prospecthill/places/veteran.htm 

The Rockley Manner , his death certificate and grave information tells us Patrick Foran was the son of Cornelius 
Foran and  Margaret Hogan of Tipperary Ireland. Patrick was born at Clonmel Tipperary about 1797. Patrick’s or 
Pat’s Ticket of Leave [31st July 1828] tells us he was convicted and sentenced to Life at Waterford City in Lent 
1819 which would have been between February and April. The Settler and Convict lists confirm it was in fact 
March 1819 when he was convicted. He is described as 5 feet 10 inches, with light brown hair, grey eyes and a 
fresh complexion.  The Rockley Manner states this was for burglary and highway robbery.   He would go on to 
receive a conditional pardon on 21st November 1835. However, Pat also known as Patrick Evander Foran did not 
remain out of gaol in NSW. He was charged and found guilty of maliciously shooting the dog of James Burgess 
and ill treating his servant boy. He was convicted and ordered to be flogged with100 lashes and be on bread and 
water for a week. It was hoped this would improve his conduct. He was then sent back to his employee, Mr 
Lawson. He was listed as being incorrigible. See the excerpt below from Colonial Secretarys Papers 3rd August 
1822 from Bench of Magistrates Parramatta. 

 

The 1822 Muster confirmed he was still in employ of William Lawson 

 

In 1841 Patrick ends up on Bathurst gaol for debts. 

 

http://colsec.records.nsw.gov.au/indexes/colsec/f/F20c_fli-fy-04.htm
https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/lawson-william-2338
https://www.spathaky.name/prospecthill/places/veteran.htm


20 
 

Patrick aged 32 years married Ellen Grady aged 17 years daughter of Patrick Grady and Margaret Whalan . Her 
father’s consent was required-see below- document date 10th June 1829.  

 

The above record indicates that there was a mistake in citing the ship Ellen came out on, it was in fact the City of 
Edinburgh not the Brampton. Ellen Grady, age 16, departed Cork, Ireland on the 23 Jun 1828, on board the 
convict transport “City of Edinburgh”, arriving in the Colony of NSW on 12 Nov 1828.  She came with her mother, 
Margaret,2 brothers ,James age 13 & Patrick age 5 & 2 sisters, Judith age 12 & Mary age 10. The family came ‘free’ 
to join their father, who had been transported to the colony in 1823..he had been sentenced to Life. Ref: NSW 
Records Immigration Reel 2420. Thank you to family history from micah6. 
 

As Pat Foran was a convict he needed to apply for permission to marry Ellen who was a free settler. See below. 

Their marriage certificate indicates they were married on 10th July 1829 in the Parish of St Mary’s. It does not 
indicate whether it is Sydney or Bathurst. Margaret Grady and Michael Moran of Sydney were witnesses. 

Patrick Snr received a Conditional 
Pardon on 21st November 1835 and 
was it again in 1839 as indicated by the 
newspaper article or did it take 4 years 
to be finalised?  Did something 
happen in between these years ie 
another conviction to warrant 2 
conditional pardon periods? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NSW Government Gazette 9th Jan 
1839  
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Patrick and Ellen had 11 children: 

1. Margaret Foran – born 10th Sept 1830 Macquarie Plains. Margaret married Richard Cornelius Wilcox on 
10th April 1855 . They had 6 children:  
• William P Wilcox 1856-1940;  
• Caroline Wilcox 1858-1898;  
• Thomas Wilcox 1861-1935;  
• Mary Ann Wilcox 1864-1881;  
• Margaret Wilcox born 1864 and  
• Richard Cornelius Wilcox Jnr 1866-1945.  

Margaret died on 29th January 1908 and is buried Oberon. Her grave information confirms her father’s name 
as Patrick Evander Foran. 

Some family trees have the next child as Jullia Foran but there is no primary evidence to support this and some 
trees have Julia as Johanna. I have chosen to leave Julia out at this stage as a second child. 

 

2. Mary Foran  - born 1st February 1832 at Macquarie Plains. She married George Lewis 
in 1857 at Bathurst. They went on to have 10 children:  

• William Lewis born 1857;  
• George Lewis born 1858;  
• Jane Lewis O’Shea 1861-1947; photo right 
• James Lewis born 1864;  
• Richard Lewis photo right born 1865-1944;  
• Joseph Lewis born 1867;  
• Elizabeth Lewis 1870-1958; photo right 
• Pauline Lewis born 1871 and  
• John Lewis 1872-1950.  

  
Photos courtesy of glenchristopher100 Ancestry family tree. 
 

3. Patrick Joseph Foran – born abt. 1834 Brewongle NSW. Married Anne Blanche Hanrahan [1833-1914] 
daughter of Patrick Hanrahan and Catherine Hogan on 29th November 1854 at 
Goulburn NSW. They had 8 known children:  

• Phillip Joseph Foran 1856-1926;  
• Michael Vincent Foran 1858-1936;  
• Catherine Ellen Foran 1861-1939;  
• Bridget Elecia Foran 1864-1932; 
• Patrick Alfred Foran 1867-1946;  
• (Lucinda) Mary Ann Foran 1871-1942;  
• George Winceslas Joseph Foran 1874-1928; and  
• Emily Margaret Foran 1876-1893 

 

 

Mary Foran Lewis  

Anne Blanche 
Hanrahan  

Ref IanHobson51  
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This family married into the Hanrahan family multiple times.  

 

The Rockley Manner page 105 tells us that Patrick Joseph Foran was a “ bushranger” of sorts just like his 
father was in Ireland. Patrick Joseph Foran and James Kelly joined forces in a spate of armed robbery. In 
1866 Patrick was under suspicion of stealing a horse from John Mackie. At the time he was “ 28 years old 
5’7” high, dark brown hair and whiskers, one eye defective; well known to the Bullock Flat (Oberon) and 
Bathurst police.” He was also convicted of robbery against John Marsh. In 1867 Lawrence Cummings, 
James Kelly and Patrick robbed William Whittacker’s Half Way House on the Carcoar road. Kelly and 
Foran were arrested and given 10 years each. While being transported to Sydney with 13 other prisoners 
there was an attempted escape. Prisoners Rutherford and Holmes did escape but were soon recaptured. 
Patrick received a conditional pardon in 1874. See April 23rd 1867 Empire article below and Sydney 
Morning Herald 23rd April 1867 rendition of the trial.  

 

NSW Police Gazette 8th May 1867  

 

Michael Vincent 
Ref: Dianne 
Swinnerton  

Bridget Elicia Ref: 
ianhobson51 1 

Catherine Ellen 
Ref ianhobson51 1 

Patrick Alfred ref 
Dianne Swinnerton  

(Lucinda) Mary Ann 
Ref ianhobson51  

James W J Ref: 
Dianne 
Swinnerton  

Emily Margaret 
Ref Dianne 
Swinnerton  
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Recommended Conditional Pardon for Patrick Foran 1869 
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Returns of Prisoners in Gaol Parramatta 30th June 1868 

 

Patrick Foran aged 33 years Nationality NSW Sentenced on 17th April 1867 at Bathurst by Fawcett for robbery 
under arms. He is a labourer by trade. Physical condition is listed as strong of frame and in sound health. He 
reads little attends school. The last column is conduct and character in prison and general remarks including 
previous convictions. It is a little hard to read but says : 10yrs Roads No previous convictions Conduct good 

 

 

 

Petition of Patrick Foran: 
Sheriff Copies of Letters 
sent to Colonial Secretary 
and Public Officers 7th May 
1868 

 

 



25 
 

Patrick died in March 20th 1888 at Fish River O’Connell and we are unsure of where he is buried but have 
a photo of the gravesite thanks to family tree thehandcocks.  

 

 

 

His wife Anne died January 16th 1914 and is buried at Oberon 
cemetery. https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49766959/ann-
blanche-foran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Johanna Foran-  family tree references have her born at Davys Creek in 1831, others in 1836. A death 
certificate Registration # 6644 for Julia Murphy daughter of Patrick and Ellen who died at Rockley links her 
to marriage with John Murphy. This record however lists her death year as 1916.  She was buried on 6th 
November 1915 according to NSW Vital Newspaper notices. The headstone however cites her death as 
9th June 1916 and she is buried with John Murphy who died 7th Feb 1929, Mary Murphy who died 25th May 
1916 and Daniel Murphy who died Jan 19th 1955. We can be 
assured that the correct year was 1916 for the death of 
Johanna Foran Murphy. Thanks to kennybsmedad  for photo. 

 
 There is a marriage record between Johanna Foran and John 
Murphy on 19th August 1862 at Bathurst and birth records for 
children-  

• Mary Murphy 1863-1916;  
• Catherine E Murphy 1864-1910;  
• John Thomas Murphy 1865-1950;  
• Ellen Murphy1867-1868;  
• James Murphy 1871-1940; 
• Michael Murphy 1874-1963 and  
• Daniel Murphy 1877-1955.  

 

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49766959/ann-blanche-foran
https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49766959/ann-blanche-foran
https://www.ancestry.com.au/account/profile/018dba81-0001-0000-0000-000000000000?_gl=1*1qqd17h*_up*MQ..*_ga*MjQ0MzEyMjc2LjE3MTA5MTM3MjQ.*_ga_4RKCCQD74Y*NDYxOGFiMjgtNWYyMi00NzAxLTk0ZDctZGVhNjFhMTlmNTJhLjEuMC4xNzEwOTEzNzIzLjAuMC4w*_ga_4QT8FMEX30*NDYxOGFiMjgtNWYyMi00NzAxLTk0ZDctZGVhNjFhMTlmNTJhLjEuMC4xNzEwOTEzNzIzLjAuMC4w
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5. Michael Foran – born 27th Sept. 1839. Died 1872 according to family trees. 

6. John Foran – born and died 1841 Essington NSW according to Helen Hayden’s Family tree on Geneanet. 
No primary evidence cited. 

7. Cornelius Foran – born 29th Sept. 1842 at Davies Creek. He married Mary Ann Costello in 1874 at 
Bathurst. They had 11 children:  

• Elizabeth Foran born 1875;  
• Sussanah Foran 1875-1952;  
• Ellen M J Foran born 1877 Campbells River;  
• Michael Foran 1879-1879; 
•  Julia Bridget Foran 1882-1963;  
• Cornelius Joseph Foran 1884-1962;  
• Mary Ann Veronica Foran born 1886;  
• Sarah A Foran born 1888;  
• Catherine Mary Ann Foran born 1890;  
• Margaret Foran born 1892 and  
• Patrick W Foran born 1895. 

Cornelius like his brothers got into trouble with the law also. The Rockley Manner [pge 106] tells us  In 1867 
Cornelius and James Humphries were suspects on a charge of arson against Eneas McDonald near Taralga. 
Earlier in February Cornelius had been arrested for the suspected involvement in the robbery at the Half Way 
House Carcoar. He, along with his brother John were released on bail while Patrick received his 10 years. It 
seems that Con may have been deterred by his near brushes with the law as there seems to be no other reports 
on him. The article below from Sydney Morning Herald [SMH] 8th October 1867 seems to contradict this 

 

Did Cornelius or his companion Thomas O’Neill receive the 10 
years hard labour? It does not indicate that Cornelius was 
indicted. 
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Bathurst Free Press 30/4/1862  

 

 

 

 

Entrance Book Bathurst Gaol January 1867 

There are however quite a few articles on charges against Cornelius Joseph Foran his son, Was the 1895 
articles below about Con Jnr known as Cornelius Joseph Foran or Con Snr?  

  

Cornelius Foran died of a burst blood vessel on 3rd October 1908 aged 66 years. 
https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49106791/cornelius-foran. 

The Age 20th Feb 1867 1 

Police Gazette 1895 1 

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49106791/cornelius-foran


28 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

His wife Mary Ann died 4th November 1931 https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/216227803/mary-ann-foran 

8. John Joseph Foran- born 2nd March 1846 at Fish River. Like his brothers John was a bushranger. It also 
seems that his wife Catherine English who he married on 28th January 1877 at O’Connell Plains was 
not without a criminal history either.  

 

Police Gazette 1873  

A family history follows from the handcocks: 

Those 12 children were: 

• Michael Foran 1877-1932 
• Patrick Foran 1877-1966 
• Mary Ann Foran 1878-1954 
• Margaret Foran 1880-1905 
• Phillip Foran 1883-1950 
• James Foran 1885-1885 
• John Foran 1885-1885 
• Alice Foran 1886-1913 
• Richard Bernard Foran  1889-1950 
• Johannah Foran 1892-1957 
• Ellen Foran 1894-1983 and 
• Joseph Sylvester Foran 1897-1972 

 

Thanks to carmel1250 we have a 
photo of Ellen Foran who married 
James Gabriel Sewell grandson of 
James Sewell and Sarah Heffernan. 

 

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/216227803/mary-ann-foran
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Ellen Foran and James Gabriel Sewell 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

John Foran   
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9. Phillip Joseph Foran- the youngest child and husband of Agnes 
Cash. Phillip was born on 5th July 1849 at Kings Creek Brewongle 
NSW. Phillip did not escape the law either. In 1865 he was 
charged with stealing a saddle and imprisoned at Bathurst for 2 
months. In 1868 he was convicted again of stealing a saddle 
and on 30th Sept 1868 at Bathurst was sentenced to 12 months 
gaol. He was described at the time as 19 years of age, of slight 
build, in good health, literate with good conduct. He was a 
labourer, gold miner. He had also been accused of stealing 
tools from David Todd , father of his brother’s wife. In October 
1872 he was charged with deserting his child. Given he married 
Agnes in 1886 this child was illegitimate and this probably 
represents a charge laid by the mother in support of the child. He was 23 years old. In June 1873 he 
again ran amuck of the law when charged with feloniously and burglariously entering the House of 
Hamlet Pollett. He was also charged with impersonating a Police Constable! He was fined. The Police 
Gazette of 17th Dec 1873 shows Phillip was also charged with assault on the said Hamlet Pollett and he 
was convicted and sentenced to 6 months hard labour at Bathurst gaol. He was 24 years of age.  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Police Gazette 23/9/1868  

Police Gazette 26/4/1865  

Police Gazette 1873  
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Agnes Cash and Phillip Joseph Foran’s Family: 
Agnes and Phillip were married at St Peters Church Rockley on 18th June 1886. At the time Phillip is listed as a 
bachelor farmer of Kings Creek. Agnes was from Stony Creek. Mary Ann’s younger sister Emma Amelia Smith 
was a witness. 

Agnes and Phillip had 8 children: 

1. John Walter Foran – born 14th Dec 1886 so Agnes was pregnant when she married Phillip. He 
married Ada Ainsworth at Glebe Sydney in 1912. He served in WW1 in the AIF. He joined on 12th October 
1917. His wife is listed as Ada and they live at 1 Cardigan St Glebe. He is five foot five and half inches, 9 
stone 7 lbs of fair complexion with blue eyes and brown hair. He is Roman Catholic. He was based at 
Victoria Barracks and assigned on 16th October 1917 to Engineer Depot Moore Park.  He was part of 
Engineer Reinforcements 2nd MD. He left Australia on the HMT Canberra on 16/11/1917.He disembarked 
at Suez on 21st December 1917 then Port Said on 12.1.1918.  He then went to Southhampton UK on 
30.1.1918 and returned to Australia 23rd Sept 1918 for discharge. His war record indicates he committed 
an offence in Suez with conduct prejudicial to the good order and military discipline -his offence? He 
appeared late on parade! Ada and John Walter had two children : 

o Jean Margaret Foran born 1915 according to family trees [annestev] 
o John T Foran died 1928 in Redfern. NSW BDM Registration # 17877 

 
Ada Foran died on 28th April 1918. This would have been before John Walter returned from the war. She 
is buried at Rookwood cemetery. He remarried in Newtown NSW on 1919 to a Nellie Hicks BDM # 8003. 
She was also known as Ellen Theresa Brown so we know the date of marriage is 31st May.  

Police Gazette 25th June 1873  

Police Gazette 9/10/1872  
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By 1928 he too was charged with deserting his child. Family tree annesteve indicate this charge was 
brought by Jean Margaret Foran who would have been 13 years of age.  
 
John Walter Foran was living in Goulburn from 1930 according to the Electoral Rolls. In 1930 he is 
quarryman living at 24 Reynolds St but no sign of Nellie.  From her death certificate we know she died in 
1959 so where was she? In 1934 he is a quarryman and his address is c/o J Phillips Emma St Goulburn. 
Family trees indicate he was also known as John William Foran and he died at Young on 9th January 1951 
although we do not have primary evidence for this. A search of NSW death records did not sbhow any 
death certificate for John Walter Foran in 1951. 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

2. Thomas Michael O’Connell Foran born 1888. He married Jessie Learmont in 1918 at Hill End. 
They had 4 children: 

o Elva Merle Foran [1919-1997] 
o Emmett Clive Foran known as Dave [1921-1991] 
o Jessie Fay Foran [1932-1989] 
o Thomas Foran died 1923 

 Thomas died on 21st August 1974 at Greenacre.  He is buried at Rylstone General Cemetery with Jessie who 
died on 29th November 1942 at Kandos NSW. 

3. Phillip Richard Foran born 1891 Oberon. He married Ena Marie Ann Kessey in 1916 at Annandale 
Sydney. By 1963 the family was back at Bathurst. Phillip and Ena had 3 children: 

o Marie Doris Foran [1917-2009] 
o Colin Phillip Richard Foran [1921-1949] 
o Patrick Leo Foran [1925-1991] 

Police Gazette 8/8/1928  



33 
 

Phillip Richard died on 8th Sept 1980 at Black Springs NSW. He is buried at Oberon cemetery. Ena died on 6th 
November 1973 and is also buried at Oberon cemetery. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Agnes Mary Foran [known as May] born 31st Aug 1893 at Bathurst. She married 
Frederick Charles Bundy on 12th June 1915 at Chatswood Sydney. They had 10 
children according to Fred obituary we only know details on 7: 

o Frederick Phillip Keith Bundy [ 1916-1941] he died in Indian ocean on 20th 
November 1941 on HMAS Sydney. This event was the greatest naval tragedy 
Australia had experienced and the ship Sydney had disappeared in 1941. It 
wasn’t until 2008 that it was found. The Sydney had been returning home 
from a successful battle in the Mediterranean when she was fired upon by the German ship 
Kormoran which was disguised as a Dutch merchant vessel. 645 men-all hands were lost on the 
Sydney including Frederick. [https://museum.wa.gov.au/explore/Sydney]   
He will be in the picture below 
somewhere- ref above. 
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o Agnes Margaret Bundy [1919-2010] 
o Ada Merle Bundy [1921-1955] 
o Betty Frances Bundy [1922-1996] 
o James Patrick Bundy [1926-2021] 
o Bob Bundy likely to be Robert 
o Kevin Bundy possibly Thomas Kevin Bundy 
o Phyllis Ellen Vuane Bundy [1922-1938]  
o Herbert Adrian Bundy [1935-1977] 
o Bill Bundy possibly a William Bundy 

Agnes Foran Bundy died on 17th September 1983 in Roseville NSW. She is buried at Macquarie Park Cemetery 
and Crematorium North Ryde Sydney. Her husband Frederick Bundy died March 29th 1958 at their residence 24 
Atchison St Crows Nest.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5. Mary Kathleen Foran born 14th March 1896 Oberon. She married John William Harris in 1921 at 
Annandale Sydney [ BDM Ref 14790]. Electoral Roll of 1930 has the family living at Balmain East. On 
family tree Kate Flynn states he was formerly known as Charles McDonald Clark although cannot find 
further detail on this. There are divorce papers between a Charles McDonald Clark and Nellie Clark in 
1920 and these do not indicate an alias of John William Harris. Charles Clark deserted his wife and 2 
children in Victoria and went to war! John Harris’s death certificate lists his father as Frederick Harris of 
Donald Victoria. It does not list a child named Susan so we don’t know who Katleen’s obit refers to . No 
mention of an alias of other marriage and children. 
 
Kathleen and John had 5 children: 

o Maxwell Phillip Harris also known as Clark/Harris by a family tree [1921-2015] 
o Clifford John Harris [1922-1980] 
o Sylvia Harris [born 1925] 
o Donald Harris [born 1935] 
o Susan Harris – possible child from Kathleens obit. 

 

Fred Bundy Ref: Matt Bundy  
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Mary Kathleen died 19th April 1975 at Concord NSW. Kathlen is buried with her son Cliff at Field of Mars 
Sydney. John died at Concord Repat Hospital of lung cancer on 30th Sept. 1952. He was cremated. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

6. Patrick Lawrence Foran born 15th July 1898 Oberon 
district. He married Stella M M Mullins in 1924 at 
Marrickville Sydney. He died on 14th April 1925 aged 26 or 27 
yrs. He is buried at Woronora Cemetery with his mother 
Agnes.  
 

7. Lucy Jane Foran born 29th July 1901 in 
the Oberon district. She married Joseph Adrian 
Lawless at Annandale in 1921. They had twin sons: 
o Colin Adrian Patrick Lawless [1922-2001] 
o Thomas John Lawless [1922-2007] 
 
Lucy died on 10th September 1980 at Merrylands 
Sydney. Joseph died on 29th March 1963. The family 
are interred at Rookwood.  
 
 
 

 
 
 

Kathleen 1912 ref mcorr196  

Gravesite Filed of Mars ref mcorr196  

Lucy Jane Source: 
Dale Boyle 1 
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8. Ellen Salina Frances Foran born 23rd August 1904 Oberon. She married Herbert James Elbourne 
Boyle in 1922 at Bathurst. {BDM # 10742]. They had a son who I communicated with regularly on family 
issues :- 

o Dale Lawrence Boyle [1923-2011]  Dale was the one who told me about his mother’s views of 
Emma Amelia Smith and her 3 illegitimate children. Dale married Lesley Martha Abbott on 31st 
July 1946 and they have 4 children 3 of whom are still living. 

Ellen died on 5th December 1995 aged 91 years. Herbert had died in 1980. Ellen is buried at Rookwood 
Cemetery Sydney. 

Agnes Cash Foran died on 29th May 1952 aged 88 
years. She had 5 living children at the time. Her death 
was certified by her daughter Agnes Mary Bundy. 

Phillip Joseph Foran had died much earlier at 
Lidcombe Sydney  on 13th June 1938 aged 87 years. 
There was 14 years difference in age between Phillip 
and Agnes. He is buried in the Roman Catholic 
section of Field of Mars where Agnes also lies. See 
above under Patrick for their headstone. Extract was 
courtesy of Dale Boyle and you can see he identified 
his mum as Ellen known as Nellie. 

 

 

Ref: lindy Kingsford 1 
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Child 3: Lucy Ann Cash and John Donley 
 

Lucy Ann Cash was born at Davey’s Creek on 17th January 1866. She went on to marry John Donley also spelt 
Donnelly on 18th June 1886 at St Patricks Roman Catholic Church Rockley. John was the son of Edward Donley 
and Honorah Moore.  

The Donleys: Edward Donley and Honorah Moore 
An Oberon cousin descended from Lucy Ann has said: 

“Edward Donley came on the Eliza in 1832. Donley is the correct way of spelling the Surname even though it 
appears spelt Donnelly in the Indexes. Edward was transported as Donley, John is buried Donley, Emily married 
as Donley and all her siblings D/Cs have it as Donley.    Edward was transported for stealing a cow. He was from 
County Cork Irland and is buried in an unmarked grave with his wife and two of their four children at the old RC 
Cemetery O'Connell.     Edward owned 40 acres in the Parish of Baring.    Edward married Honorah Moore who 
migrated with her father James in 1856 being sponsored by their sister/daughter Johanna's  husband John 
English. You will find them in the Rockley Manner and this family was in the Rockley and The Lagoon area. “ 

“Edward was transported on "Eliza" 6 arriving 6th September 1832 from Cork Ireland. He was tried 25th March 
1832 at Cork for cow stealing and received 7 years. He was aged 31, a Roman Catholic, married from Cork and 
occupation listed as ploughs, reaps and sows. Edward did not read or write, was 5'5 3/4" in height of sallow 
complexion and freckled. He had sandy brown hair, hazel eyes a small mole on his right jaw: another on the 
right side of his chin and a front tooth on the right side upper jaw was broken….. From the Convict Employers 
Index 1832-1833 Edward is listed as a convict that ploughs assigned to John West Bathurst 5 Dec 1832” 

Ref: Certificate of Freedom  40/1423 

Edward died from Influenza. Date of death and date of burial do not coincide with death notice in the paper 
which is dated 4th Nov 1891. Edward is also shown as 101 and written up as a centenarian however it appears 
he was probably only approximately 91 as he continually changed his age as per Marriage and Childrens Birth 
Certificates. This was probably done to cover up the fact he was a convict. Date of birth shown on his 
Certificate of Freedom is 1801. Also in his son John's Obituary 1922, he is said to have been brought from 
Ireland to manage "Charlton" for Arkell. However, he is shown on all Birth and Death Certificates as a shepherd 
or boundary rider. He is also shown as a widow (1836 with one child deceased) on his marriage to Honora in 
1856. 

In addition we know from family historians that Edward was the son of James Donley and Catherine Higgins 
of Cork Ireland. Edward died on 30th November 1891 and was buried on 1st December 1891. He had been a 
boundary rider, farmer and shepherd during his life. Honorah Moore was born around 1831 in Ireland the 
daughter of James Moore and Mary Johnson. 

Edward and Honorah had 4 children  

• Mary Ann Donley born 12th July 1857 Mount Stromboli near Charlton. She died on 21st May 1877 at 
Brisbane Valley Creek and was buried on 23rd May 1877 at St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Cemetery 
O’Connell. Mary Ann was 19 years of age. 

• James Donley born 15th Dec 1858 at Brisbane Valley Creek and baptised on 22nd Feb 1859. He died on 
2nd Sept 1860 at Brisbane Valley Creek. He was no quite 2 years old. 

• Edward Donley born 24th February 1864 Brisbane Valley Creek and baptised on 9th March of that year. 
He died at Native Dog Creek Essington on 11th December 1878 aged 14 yrs and is buried at St Josephs 
cemetery OConnell  
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• John Donley was born 16th March 1861 at Brisbane Valley Creek and was the only child to marry and 
produce Donley heirs. John married Lucy Ann Cash on 16th June 1886 at St Patricks Church Rockley. She 
was noted as living with her parents and he a farmer. 

 

 

Notice the witness is Lucy Ann’s brother Charles Richard Cash  
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Lucy Ann and John had 7 children: 

1. Hanorah Mary Donley [born Brisbane Valley Creek 1886], She married Arthur E Schofield at St 
Ignatius Church Oberon. Ref: Transcribed from church records by Irene Birch in 1980's lists marriage 
of Hanorah Mary Donley parents John Donley and Lucy Ann Cash to Arthur Ernest Schofield 
21/2/1906. They had 2 children 

• Harold Ernest Schofield born 1906 
• Myrtle Rubina Scholfield born 1908 

2. Thomas Edward Donley born 1889 at Brisbane Valley Creek . He married Caroline Agnes 
Johnson on 18th August 1909 at St Ignatius Church Oberon. Thomas and Caroline had 3 boys: 

• Augustus Ambrose Donley born 1911 and according to family historians he was 
considered simple. After his mother died her family raised Augustus.  

• Thomas Edward Donley born 1914 in Oberon and died in 1936 at Hornsby. Family 
historians note he died of broncho pneumonia at Peat and Milson Islands Hornsby 
NSW. 

• John William Donley born and died at Essington 1915. 

Caroline and Thomas were working on Essington Park in 1913 according to the electoral rolls.  

Caroline died on 15th April 1919 at Arundel Park Oberon and she is buried in the old Roman Catholic 
cemetery at Oberon. Family historians note Caroline’s family were in the Essington area after coming 
from New Zealand, they are all buried in the Old RC Cemetery Oberon NSW.  
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Thomas  remarried on 6th June 1931 in Wellington NSW to Amy Ethel Birchall [1909-?]. They went on to 
have a further 8 children: Mary, May, Josie, Jean, Edna, John, Jim and Richard  according to Thomas 
obituary. He died on Australia Day 26th January 1956 aged 67. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. John Richard Donley born 14th March 1891 at Brisbane Valley Creek and baptised that year on 
24th March at St Ignatius Church Oberon. [ref: cousin Lynn of Oberon from primary records].  The 1934 
electoral roll has him living in Norway as a grazier with a wife Grace Wilhelmina [Warby] and possibly 
a son Augustine. We know he married Grace Warby on 13th Feb 1913 at St Ignatius Church Oberon. 
Nothing is known of Augustine. Grace’s death index lists a daughter Hazel J Donley.  We know Grace 
was the daughter of William Edward Henry Warby [1858-1932] and Margaret Jane Hewitt [1864-
1943] born at Essington on 19th Sept 1893. Warby’s owned land in the region and were considered by 
my father to have stolen Smith land at Native Dog Creek. I probably think unfairly bought is more like 
it. Family historians have John and Grace having 7 children: 
 

• Norman Herbert Donley born 2nd October 1913 at Oberon 
• Hazel Jean Donley born 19th August 1915 and died on 1st May 1921 at Oberon. 
• Elma Donley born 17th December 1918 
• Lloyd Donley born 8th April 1924 
• Doris Donley born 18th February 1928 
• Winifred Donley born 16th December 1930 

• Augustine Donley  
 
The 1943 electoral roll has John Richard and Grace living at Hydes Creek near Bellingen. John 
Richard died suddenly at Hydes Creek on 2oth November 1944 and was buried on 22nd Nov 1944 at 
Roman Catholic Cemetery Bellingen . [ Ref davidmac142 and cousin Lynn’s primary sources]. 
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4. James Norman Donley born 22nd January 1893 Brisbane Valley Creek and was baptised on 15th 
March 1893 at St Ignatius Church Oberon. He married Alice M. Lester aka Fox [1890-1980] on 15th 
January 1930 at the Congregational Church Newtown. Family histories have Alice’s surname as 
Lester but the marriage record lists it as Fox. BDM # 3950]. The electoral roll tells us they were living 
in Liverpool in 1934. James died on either the 27th or 31st October 1974 as the Find a Grave reference 
states 31st and family historians have cited 27th. James was a labourer. 
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5. Patrick Harold Donley born 28th March 1895 Brisbane Valley Creek baptised that year on 7th 
June at St Ignatius Oberon. He married Veronica Mary Quinn on 4th Dec 1927 at St Canice’s Church 
Roslyn St Sydney according to family historians. Patrick died on 27th July 1965 and is buried at 
Woronora cemetery Sydney. He had been a railway employee and trimmers assistant. 

 
 

6. Henry Joseph Donley -born 5th April 1898 at Brisbane Valley Creek and baptised at Essington on 
22nd May 1898. Henry died on 10th October 1899 at Brisbane Valley Creek and is buried at St Jospeh’s 
Church Oconnell with family members. 
 

7. Emily Agnes Donley born 23rd March 1900 at Brisbane Valley Creek and baptised at St Igantious 
on 27th March that year . She married William Lyle Dowling at St Brigids Dubbo on 28th July 1921. 

 

According to family trees they had 4 children: 

o Augustus Eric Dowling  born 15th Nov 1921 
Concord Sydney and died 30th Oct 1979 in 
Bathurst. He had married Beryl Joan 
Fitzpatrick in 1945. 

o John Dowling  born 1924 at Bathurst and died 
15th October 1991 in Newtown Sydney. 

o Betty Mary Agnes  Dowling  cousin Lynn’s 
mother. Born 12th December 1927 at Bathurst. 
She married Geoffrey Lionel George [1927-
2020]  in July 1949 in Bathurst. Betty died 22nd 
May 2022 at Bathurst. 

o Terrence Patrick Dowling  born 3oth May 1935 
at Bathurst  and died 8th April 2015 at 
Bathurst. 

John Donley died on 7th December 1922 at Oberon. He is buried in the 
Catholic section of Oberon cemetery. 
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Lucy Ann remarried at Bathurst in 1924 to Richard H Garth. She dies in 1932 [BDM # 15678]. 

Thanks to my third cousin Lynn who is an avid family historian in Oberon for much of this information on her 
line. 

Child 4: Charles Richard Cash and Rebecca Agnes Todd 
Charles Richard Cash was born in 1869 at Wisemans Creek [BDM # 6646]. He married Rebecca Agnes Todd 
daughter of Luin Todd and Sarah Bellamy. Luin Todd was brother of David Smith Todd. They were married on 
15th July 1900 in the Wesleyan Church at Stoney Creek. They had one child: 

1. Charles Reginald Cash born 1901. He married Lucretia E Davidson in 1924 at Canterbury 
Sydney. 

Charles Richard Cash died at Sydney Hospital 
aged 48 with an inquest being carried out on 
21st January 1918. Charles was working at 
South Bulli Colliery as a miner and was struck 
on the head accidentally by a piece  of coal.  

Rebecca died a widow on 6th August 1949. [Ref 
B16625].  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Child 5: James Francis Cash and Matilda Monoghan 
James Francis was born in 1872 at Bathurst. He married Matilda Monoghan in 1923 at Bathurst [BDM # 2237]. 
Matilda died in on 29th August 1942 in Sydney and is  buried in Rookwood Cemetery. Her gravesite inscription 
indicates she was “our mother” but we have no information on any children.  

In 1930 the electoral roll has James living at Violet St Bathurst but no Matilda is listed. 

James dies on the 17th July 1955 at Ryde Sydney according to family trees. 

Child 6: Jane Cash 
Little is known other than she was born in 1873. 

Evening News 3/8/1900  

Extract from Coroners report  
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Child 7: William Henry Cash 
William Henry was born in 1874 in Bathurst district. He married Emma Armstrong in 1911 at 
Bathurst.  

She was the daughter of John Armstrong and his wife Frances Agincourt West. Emma had 
been born in 1877. John had been born near Taralga on 15th July 1829 so was a free settler. A 
family tree indicates Emma was the second eldest of 12 children. The Armstrong’s were Irish 
through the paternal line of Charles Armstrong from Glenroy Clogher Parish County Tyrone. 
Charles had been convicted at the age of 13 yrs in 1819 of cow stealing and sent to Australia in 
1820 on the ship Almorah for 7 years. Just 9 years later he is having children! Charles was 
discharged from the Establishment Emu Plains in July 1822. 

“Almorah 2. Yesterday arrived from Ireland,- the ship Almorah; Captain Winter. She sailed from the Cove 
of Cork the 22d of August last, and brings 160 male prisoners, all in good health. Surgeon 
Superintendent, Dr. Alexander, R. N. The guard consists of a party of 30 men belonging to the 1st 
Regiment of Foot (Royals), under orders of Ensign Bruce. Sydney Gazette, 23 Dec 1820.” 
https://convictrecords.com.au/ships/almorah 

Charles married Naomi in 1828 

 

Emma Ref: roslyn1945  

John Armstrong ref 
barryjouannett  

https://convictrecords.com.au/ships/almorah
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Naomi herself was a convict having been sentenced to death then life for burglary at the Essex Assizes on 10th 
July 1826. She was transported on the “ Harmony” and arrived in 1827. She was pardoned in 1845. 

Emma dies aged 40 yrs in 1917 in Bathurst. There is no evidence of children of the marriage currently. 

William then marries Beatrice M Piper in 1919 at Bathurst.  

William dies on 18th October 1829 and is buried at Bathurst Cemetery. He was 35 years old.  The inscription reads 

“In loving memory of William Cash, died Oct. 18th 1929 aged 35 years. At rest. (marble slab on H/S) - In memory 
of Beatrice May Cash, born 7-4-1883 died 7-10-1977. (Aluminium plaque below above on H/S)” 

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49105452/william-h-cash 

 

 

Beatrice remains a widow for 48 years. 

Child 8: Thomas George Cash and Amy Gertrude Smith 
Please refer also to the Coles document and Edwin Spencer Smith. Amy and Thomas were first cousins. 

Thomas George was born in 1877 in the Bathurst district [BDM Ref # 8009]. He married his first cousin Amy 
Gertrude Smith in 1911 in Bathurst [BDM # 880]. Amy was the daughter of Mary Ann’s younger brother Edwin 
Spencer Smith and Gertrude Margery Cole.  

They went on to have 6 children: 

1. Jessie E Cash born 1911 Bathurst. She married John Anthony McMenamin in 1931 and they had 
2 children. Jessie died 15/11/2022 at Bathurst. 

o Gabrielle McMenamin 

o Patricia McMenamin 

2. Stella Cash born 1913 Bathurst. She married Herbert Anthony Caldwell in 1934 in Bathurst. They 
had 2 children: 

 
a. A still born Caldwell [1943-1943] 
b. Alison Yvonne Caldwell:[ died 1939] 

3. Daisy Cash born 4th June 1915 Bathurst. She married Francis Thomas Martin in 1934 at Bathurst. 
They had 6 children: 

a. Neville Martin died 1976 

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/49105452/william-h-cash
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b. Pamela Winsome Martin 

c. Francis Thomas Martin 

d. Peter Martin 

e. Terence Martin 

f. William Martin 
 

Daisy died in 1943 and an inquest was held into her death. The report of the inquest says: 

Newspaper report. Inquest into Woman's Death 
It has been decided to hold an inquest into the circumstances surrounding the death of Mrs. Daisy Martin, of 
Wilkins Street, Bathurst. Mrs Martin, who was 27 years of age, died in Bathurst on Friday last, and was buried the 
following day. The inquest is to be held by the Bathurst Coroner (Mr. A.B. Burgess) at 10 o'clock on Thursday 
Morning. 
 
Inquiry On Young Mother's Death 
The Bathurst Coroner (Mr. A.B. Burgess) yesterday held an inquiry into the circumstances surrounding the death 
on May 28 of Mrs. Daisy Martin (27) of Wilkins Street, the mother of five children. 
He found that she died from septicemia following an abortion but how or by what means such abortion was 
caused the evidence did not enable him to say. 

 
Detective Constable J.W. Bunnell said when he saw Mrs Martin in Bathurst Hospital he told her he had come to 
see what made her so sick. 

 
She said she was playing with her young daughter and the two eldest boys on the front steps on her home on May 
25, and they were all humping from the top step to the ground. She said there were four or five steps. she said she 
felt all right after playing with the children but after she prepared tea, she started to haemorrhage and she went 
to bed. she did not do anything to prevent herself from having the baby. 

 
The deceased's dying depositions were taken by the chamber magistrate on May 27, said witness. 
Dr R.D. Mulvey, Government medical officer, said death was due to a septicemic  condition, consquent on an 
abortion in the second month of pregnancy. It was unlikely that the happening could have been brought about by 
a fall. 

HUSBAND'S EVIDENCE 
Thomas Francis Martin, wardsman at the District Hospital 
and husband of the deceased, said his wife appeared to be in 
her usual health when he left home for work on May 25. when 
he returned about 2 pm on May 26, his wife was in bed, and 
complained of a severe headache and pains in the back. He 
asked if he would get a doctor, and she replied. "No, I think I 
will be all right after a rest." The pains became worse, and at 5 
pm he called a doctor. He told deceased to remain in bed 
and keep warm, and to let him know if she did not get any 
better. She did not improve, and the doctor, when called 
again, ordered her to hospital. Her condition became worse 
and she died about 3 am on May 28. 
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His wife wanted to have the baby and, as far as he knew, she did not do anything herself, 
or allow anyone else to do anything to prevent her from having it. 

Reference for article left: National Advocate 4th June 1943 pge 2 

How sad that Daisy had to die because in those times abortion was illegal. She was 
just 28 years old and left 6 little children for her husband to raise.  

Francis remarried. His headstone indicates his second wife was named Beryl. The 
grave index lists Beryl as Beryl mavis and with the help of family trees we can say she 
was Beryl Mavis Duck who looks to be a divorcee having married David Joseph Stewart 
in 19327 and then Francis in 1951. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Francis appears to have another 3 children with Beryl. The first boy Francis Thomas Martin 1940-1940; Francis 
John Martin 1946-2012; Brian Edward Martin 1948-2020. 
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4. Horace Cash- a little man born and died in 1920. He is buried with Amy Gertrude at Bathurst 
Cemetery next to his little cousin Edward Mansell. 

 

5. Spencer Thomas Cash born about 1922. The electoral rolls have him at Perthville in 1958 as a 
labourer , he is alone but the 1949 roll has him still at Perthville but there is an entry for Amy Gerturde 
of Perthville and Marie so it looks as if he is living at home. He dies in 1966. His gravesite inscription 
says he died 16th July 1966 aged 44 years.  

 
 

 

 

 

6. Marie Cash 
 

Thomas George dies in 1942 BDM # 15956 

Notice in the National Advocate (Bathurst, NSW : 1889 - 1954), 19 Sep 1942 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


